Earth Negotl ations Bull etlw

A Report| ng Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotl ations
IFF-4 on-line at http://www.iisd.calforestry/iff4/

Vol. 13 No. 58

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Wednesday, 2 February 2000

IFF-4HIGHLIGHTS
TUESDAY, 1FEBRUARY 2000

Onthe second day of |FF-4, del egates met in Plenary to consider
international arrangements and mechanismsto promote the manage-
ment, conservation and sustainabl e devel opments of all types of
forests (Category I11).

PLENARY

Co-Chair llkka Ristimaki opened Plenary discussion on Category
[11. Jag Maini, IFF Secretariat, overviewed the Secretary-Genera's
Report on Category |11 (E/CN.17/IFF/2000/4) and two Secretariat
notes: priority forest policy issues (E/CN.17/IFF/2000/2); and
elements and functionsfor afutureinternational arrangement and
mechanism (E/CN.17/IFF/2000/3). Oninternational arrangementsand
mechanisms (IAM), Maini said the Secretary-General's paper was
based on guidance from | FF-3, additional commentsfrom countries,
analyses by the | FF Secretariat, and consultation among I TFF
members. Thereport identifies 16 priority elementsto be addressed by
any |AM and four principle functionsthat an |AM could perform:
policy development, coordination, policy implementation and provi-
sion of legislative authority. The report puts forward ten optionsfor an
| AM ranging from ongoing ad hoc intergovernmental forest policy
deliberationsthrough to negotiating anew LBI on all types of forests.
Maini said the options were not mutually exclusive and noted that at
least one principal function would perform adominant role. He
stressed that any future arrangement must have a high status and
providefor sustained political engagement.

NIGERIA, speaking for the G-77/CHINA, said any IAM should be
comprehensive, holistic and inclusive of all issuesrelating to forests.
He emphasized implementation, urged concluding negotiationson a
global forest fund, and said an |AM should specifically addresstech-
nology transfer and focus on major issuesthat undermine SFM, such as
inadequate financial resources and lack of market accessfor goods
from devel oping countries. He supported an action-oriented, perma-
nent dialogue and provision of new and additional financial resources.

PORTUGAL, on behalf of the EU, supported an institutionalized
and permanent arrangement, which is action-oriented and focused on
implementation and monitoring. He said any arrangement should,
inter alia, provide an intergovernmental forum for dialogue, establish
amechanism for improved coordination, and ensure transparency and
broad participation. He remarked that although the EU has supported a
LBI, it remains open-minded to the form of afuture arrangement.

While stating that aL Bl is necessary in the long-term, COSTA
RICA acknowledged the lack of political support for such amecha
nism and, supported by PANAMA,, thus advocated atransitional
arrangement. He proposed establishing an under secretary-general on
foreststo, inter alia, guarantee an ongoing dial ogue, establish neces-
sary coordination mechanisms, create aspecia intergovernmental
commission to identify the scope of aL Bl and establish aforest fund.

CANADA expressed support for negotiating aframework conven-
tionon forestsor aLBl. He said other optionsfall short and do not
ensure implementation, contradict the wisdom of experience, or fail to
provide cooperation. He remarked that aforest convention would
ensure sustained partnership, political commitment, policy devel op-
ment, implementation and compliance, and said commitmentswould
be balanced with the provision of technology transfer and funding for
implementation. He said Canadawould submit adraft resolution for
the CSD.

JAPAN supported an arrangement that includes policy implemen-
tation, development of criteriaand indicatorsfor SFM, and monitoring
and eval uation of progress. She urged countriesto devel op national
policiesinlinewith international standards, to share national progress
reports and to promote trade with products from sustainably managed
forests. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION supported aL Bl and empha-
sized the need to establish problem-solving arrangements. He said
failureto reach agreement at | FF-4 might permanently compromisethe
international forest dialogue. The REPUBL 1C OF KOREA noted the
lack of timeto merge divergent viewsand therefore said the | FF should
formulate the basic functions and modalities of thefuture |AM but not
commit to aparticular IAM before CSD-8.

AUSTRALIA proposed anon-binding, permanent arrangement
that would include: amulti-year work programmeto implement SFM;
atransparent forum to provide assessment on progress; funding and
administrative arrangements similar to those of the | PF and | FF; coor-
dination of forest-related work of international organizations; promo-
tion of regional initiatives; continuation of policy dialogue; facilitation
of trade and market access; and continued work on certification and
labeling, consistent with WTO obligations.

The US preferred the establishment of anon-binding international
arrangement under the CSD that, inter alia: facilitates aresults-
oriented dialogue; identifies new priority areasfor action and
emerging issues; enhances common understanding of SFM; fosters
regional and international cooperation; contributesto collaboration
under existing organi zations and conventions; monitors and reportson
progress; isbased on scientific and technical knowledge; isopen,
transparent, and participatory; and facilitatesimplementation of

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by Radoslav Dimitrov <rado@polisci.umn.edu>, lan Fry <ifry@mpx.com.au>, Lauralvers
<laurai @iisd.org>, Wendy Jackson <wendyj@chickmail.com>, Violette Lacloche <violette@iisd.org>, and Leila Mead <leila@interport.net>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek,
Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor isLangston James"Kimo" Goree <kimo@iisd.org>. Digital editing by Andrei Henry <andrei @iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors
of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for
Environment, Forests and L andscape, the United Kingdom Department for International Devel opment (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-X1.) General Support for the
Bulletin during 2000 is provided by the the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Devel opment Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Environment of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairsand Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairsand Ministry
of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the Government of Australia, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Globa Environment Facility
(GEF) and BP Amoco. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-mail at
<info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the
authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and
only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent
toe-mail distribution listsand can befound on the LinkagesWWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satelliteimagewastaken above New York ©2000 TheLiving Earth,
Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Wednesday, 2 February 2000

Vol. 13 No. 58 Page 2

existing commitments. She opposed any arrangement that contains
provision of legal authority or that supercedes other agreementsor
conventions.

SWITZERLAND supported agloba LBl and suggested aframe-
work convention with regional or issue-related protocols or annexes.
She commented that such an umbrella convention would, inter alia:
differentiate between issues; takeinto account specific regional
conditions and achievements; and continue the global dialogue on
forests.

IRAN stressed that all arrangements must takeinto account
LFCCs. COLOMBIA called for a permanent arrangement under the
CSD that would, inter alia; meet twice ayear; possibly contain tech-
nical or subsidiary bodies; have political authority; act asacoordi-
nator; and identify international sources of funding. BENIN
welcomed aforest convention to, inter alia: develop forest policy;
coordinate political activity; give special attention to developing
countries; identify SFM criteria; facilitate technical cooperation;
recognize LFCCs' concerns; and promote sustai nably-produced
forest goods and services.

CHINA said the Forest Principles should provide the basisfor
future negotiations and called on countriesto honor commitments
made at UNCED. GEORGIA and KYRGY ZSTAN supported aL BI.
BRAZIL proposed that the UN General Assembly (GA) establishand
provide amandate for a permanent mechanism, focused on policy
development, implementation and coordination and based on | PF
proposalsfor action. Hesaid it should rely on, inter alia, input from
secretariats of forest-rel ated conventions and other organizations, and
provide assistance and guidance to different programmes. He urged
the establishment of afinancial mechanism as soon asthe CSD
definesitsstructure.

PAPUA NEW GUINEA noted therole of legislative authority in
influencing resource mobilization and supported a stronger mandate
under the auspices of the GA. He highlighted the need to strengthen
existing |AMs and floated the idea of working panels or aconference
arrangement. POLAND expressed its support for aframework
convention, including regional protocols, or for aregional forest
convention. TAJKISTAN advocated negotiation of aLBl asa
complement to existing activities, taking into account the needs of
economiesin transition. BELARUS supported aL Bl that would
alow, inter alia, monitoring of SFM and coordination of economic
activity and national forestry programmes.

NEW ZEALAND stressed the need to build on existing national
and regional initiatives, and to send firm recommendationsto CSD-8
for durable measuresthat avoid duplicating previouswork.

MALAY SIA advocated aL Bl addressing all types of forestsina
holistic and comprehensive manner that, inter alia, facilitatestech-
nology transfer, promotes private investment and generatesfinancial
resources. INDONESIA emphasized the urgency of implementation.
CHILE remained open to alternative proposalsto aL Bl, but
suggested the mandate of any future lAM allow for future discussion
of aLBI.

CUBA said scarce economic and technical resourcesin devel-
oping countries prohibit the choice of aLBl. NORWAY calledfor,
inter alia: an emphasis on implementation; monitoring of results;
international and national coordination; ahigh degree of political
commitment to SFM; and aclear recommendation for CSD-8.
MEXICO supported strengthening existing mechanisms and said any
IAM should, inter alia: outline specific goal s, promote those aspects
requiring additional attention; bring out synergies; and identify an
action plan and a mechanism to coordinate political aspects.

INDIA said |IAM discussions should proceed after consensusis
reached on other remaining contentiousissues. She cautioned against
duplicating efforts with existing mechanisms, opposed aL BI, and
supported a permanent forum and the establishment of aglobal forest
facility to channel financial resources from different instruments. She
said an |AM must addressfinancia resourcesin its mandate.

TURKEY supported apermanent forum on foreststo formulate aL Bl
onall typesof forests. UKRAINE said | FF-4 presents a unique oppor-
tunity for anew global consensusonal BI.

LATIN AMERICAN FOREST NETWORK attributed implemen-
tation problemsto alack of: will; reporting mechanisms; financial
resources; and sufficient participation by civil society. He supported a
permanent and restructured | TFF to ensure transparency and
increased participation. He proposed strengthening regional initia-
tivesand an |AM supporting private and independent efforts.

FOREST ALLIANCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA supported a
LBI in order to ensure that economic, social and environmental
aspects of forestsare addressed. FRIENDS OF THE EARTH INTER-
NATIONAL supported improved utilization of existing intergovern-
mental dialogues asthe | FF duplicates the work of other institutions.
She said compliance with international commitmentsto protect
forestsisthemost important challenge and suggested creating asmall
regionally-balanced committee to ensure compliance.

SOUTH PACIFIC FORUM SECRETARIAT reported on results
from the South Pacific Regional Meeting on Category 111 held in Fiji,
including a preferencefor improved use of existing agencies, recog-
nizing that no single existing mechanism can cover the entire forest
agenda. He highlighted policy implementation and coordination as
the most pressing functions. INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF
INDIGENOUS PEOPLES OF TROPICAL FOREST S underscored
theimportance of recognizing and strengthening indigenous peoples
rightsto land, language, identity and culture by preserving and
protecting forests. He warned there would be no future for forests
should commercialization and exploitation continue.

GLOBAL FOREST POLICY PROJECT discouraged establish-
ment of another | FF and urged del egatesto provide detailson their
IAM proposals. CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL NETWORK
opposed aL Bl but urged action through existing instruments,
including monitoring of implementation and turning policiesinto
national laws.

AUSTRALIA noted consensus on the need for a permanent
arrangement and requested the Secretariat to draft an annex to the
report of the day’s Plenary discussion, listing the objectives, responsi-
bilities, functions, the mode of operation, reporting arrangements and
optionsfor funding.

Inclosing, Co-Chair Asadi identified areas of agreement,
including wide support for ahigh-level permanent arrangement, the
desire to combine options, and aconsensusin favor of conclusive
results.

IN THE CORRIDORS

While anumber of countrieshave maintained support foraLBl on
forests, the two principal modelsfor an ongoing non-legally binding
institution on forests proposed by vari ous del egati ons have stimul ated
discussion. The model for abody under the UN General Assembly
appearsto receive support from countrieswho want ahigh-level insti-
tution, but othersare concerned that such aninstitution would exclude
input from major groups. Others prefer an institution under the CSD,
which would be moretransparent and participatory but faces concerns
that such an organization may not have high political commitment.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR TODAY

WORKING GROUP 1: Working Group 1 will conveneinthe
Trusteeship Council Chamber to discuss underlying causes of defor-
estation and possibly traditional forest-related knowledge.

CONTACT GROUPS: The contact group on EST transfer will
convene at 10:00 am in Conference Room 2. The contact group on
financial resourceswill meet at 3:00 pmin Conference Room 7. The
contact group on trade and environment will meet at 6:00 pmin
Conference Room 2.



